STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

RECEIVED
Sep 18 2023
SC Court of Appeals

Appeal from Sumter County

Honorable R. Ferrell Cothran, Circuit Court Judge

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

DAUNTE MAURICE JOHNSON,

APPELLANT

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2022-000931

FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

BREEN STEVENS
Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. Whether the trial court reversibly erred by failing to suppress (a) a photograph depicting a five-year old's partial skeletal remains that decayed in the Richland County landfill for over ten weeks, and (b) another pair of photographs of a kitchen knife purportedly in Appellant's possession well after the incident, and where the knife was not related to either of the two homicides?

- II. Whether the trial court reversibly erred by failing to suppress testimony regarding the kitchen knife, and admitting it into evidence, where Appellant was accused of stabbing the two victims to death, yet the kitchen knife in question was not related to either of the homicides?

- III. Whether the trial court imposed an illegal sentence upon Appellant by imposing consecutive five (5) year sentences for each of the two charges of possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime when he was already sentenced to LWOP for the two charges of murder?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On October 3, 2019, the Sumter County Grand Jury true-billed a four-count indictment against Appellant Daunte M. Johnson for two counts of murder, and two counts of possession of a deadly weapon during the commission of a violent offense. R. 3; R. 723-724. Appellant's case proceeded to trial from June 20, 2022 to June 24, 2022, before the Honorable R. Ferrell Cothran, Jr., and a jury. Appellant was represented by Elizabeth H. Neyle and Emily Crayton, while the State was represented by Ernest A. Finney, Jr. R. 1; R. 142. The jury found Appellant guilty on all four counts. R. 708, lines 7-25. The trial court imposed consecutive sentences Appellant to life without parole (LWOP) for each count of murder, followed by consecutive sentences of five years for each count of possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime. R. 719, lines 12-22; R. 725-732.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Appellant was in a relationship with Sharee Bradley (Bradley), and frequently stayed with her and her three minor children¹ at the Lantana Apartments² in Sumter, South Carolina for two to three months in the Summer of 2019. R. 165, lines 7-21; R. 166, lines 5-13. Prior to that, Appellant lived with Winona Cody (Winona) and her family—Winona’s adult daughter Courtney Daney (Courtney), her adult son Cody Daney (Cody), her friend Quinton Commander, and her uncle Mike James (Uncle Mike)—on Susie Rembert Street in Sumter for approximately one year. R. 305, lines 19-24; R. 308, line 12—R. 309, line 4; R. 279, line 7-22.

On August 3, 2019, at around 10:00 pm Cermon James (James)—the father of Minor 2—met with Appellant at the apartment complex to confront him. Specifically, James was apparently upset regarding Appellant’s disapproval and handling of Minor 2’s conduct of staying up late playing video games. James told Appellant he had to leave, and he did. R. 230, line 7—R. 234, line 10. When James returned the next morning between 9:00 am to 10:00 am, he saw Appellant walking around the apartments and confronted him again. This time, James told Appellant in no uncertain terms “if you don’t leave, I’m gonna, I’m gonna beat your A.” James then left the apartments. R. 46, line 2—R 47, line 12.

Either August 3rd or 4th, Appellant went to Winona’s house, spoke with Uncle Mike, and told him he was in fear for his life because of James. Uncle Mike told Appellant he did not have a gun, but instead obtained the knife of his nephew Cody from inside and gave it to Appellant. R. 267, line 24—R. 269, line 10. Further, the night of August 4th, Appellant was purportedly

¹ At the time of the incident, Minor 1 was five years old, Minor 2 was 12 years old, and Minor 3 was approximately three years old. R. 183, line 21—R. 184, line 15; R. 203, lines 21-25.

² The Lantana Apartments were known as the Gamecock Apartments at the time of the incident. R. 25, lines 8-23; R. 182, line 24—R. 183, line 7.

overheard by Bradley's neighbor telling Uncle Mike he would give the knife back directly to Cody.³ R. 252, lines 5-21.

The night of August 4th and into the morning of August 5th, Bradley was downstairs in her living room, Minor 1 was in Bradley's bedroom, while Minor 2 played videogames in his upstairs bedroom, and Minor 3 was with his father in Columbia, South Carolina. R. 29, lines 22-24; R. 188, line 5—R. 193, line 11. At some point during the night, Appellant came to Minor 3's room and asked for the mop, which Minor 2 provided. R. 193, lines 13-24. When Minor 2 awoke in the afternoon of August 5th, he went downstairs and saw Bradley wrapped inside of a rug. He immediately went outside to the parking lot and found the apartment complex manager who was about to leave since it was the end of her shift after 5:00 pm. The manager went to the apartment, looked inside, and called 911. Police arrived shortly after. R. 163, lines 7-21; R. 169, line 11—R. 172, line 3; R. 179, line 12—R. 180, line 15; R. 195, line 5—R. 196, line 22. Appellant was seen outside near the apartments shortly after and went to Winona's home. R. 197, lines 6-7; R. 200, lines 10-16.

August 5th was also Cody's birthday. R. 289, lines 20-25. Late that afternoon, he was about to take a shower at Winona's home when he saw Appellant in the kitchen; Appellant allegedly cleaned Cody's folding collector's knife and gave it back to him. R. 292, line 17—R. 293, line 15. Cody put the knife in his room, started to shower, and "heard a lot of ruckus." R. 293, lines 23-24; R. 304, lines 5-10. He got out, and saw Appellant come inside through the front door while Winona ran outside, leaving only he and Appellant in the home. As police arrived at the door, Appellant allegedly went to the kitchen and obtained a kitchen knife saying,

³ Cody's recollection places the event of Appellant obtaining his knife, and his own subsequent questioning of Appellant about its return, at "maybe a few days before the incident happened." R. 282, line 16—R. 284, line 5; R. 293, lines 6-7

“I can’t let them take me.” R. 294, lines 2-20; R. 295, line 12-22. Appellant subsequently exited Winona’s home with his hands up. He was unarmed and apparently did not resist arrest. R. 219, line 24—R. 220, line 6; R. 224, lines 20-24. He was arrested and taken to the police station.

Appellant purportedly gave several statements to police over the course of several days.⁴ In one statement, he indicated the father of Minor 1, Dupray Adams (Adams) contacted him weeks prior to the incident and said he would kill Bradley if Appellant would remove her body, destroy the remains, and be compensated \$5000 for his efforts. R. 78, lines 3-18; R. 423, lines 1-15. Appellant allegedly changed his statement shortly after to say that James, Minor 2’s father, contacted him and offered \$20,000 to Appellant if he killed both Bradley and Minor 1. Appellant then purportedly admitted to stabbing both Bradley and Minor 1 to death, wrapped Minor 1 in a rug, and put Minor 1’s remains in the dumpster behind the apartment. Police further indicated that Appellant “talked about that he had, you know, gotten a knife from Cody Daney essentially.” R. 79, line 1—R. 80, line 18; R. 424, line 4—R. 426, line 1; R. 440, line 9—R. 441, line 5.

After an extensive search, some of Minor 1’s remains were located in the Richland County Landfill on October 18, 2019. Specifically, bones from the lower half of her body, and portions of her skull were recovered and identified. R. 527, line 25—R. 528, line 19; R. 532, lines 18-25.

Appellant’s case proceeded to trial from June 20th to 24th. 2022. During pre-trial motions, Appellant’s trial counsel (Counsel) objected to admission of the photographs depicting

⁴ During Appellant’s recorded statement on August 8th, 2019, law enforcement asked what happened to Sharee and Minor 1, to which Appellant responded, “it was demons, you hear me.” R. 487, line 3—R. 488, line 15; R. 498, line 16—R. 499, line 1. The Court previously found Appellant both competent to stand trial, and criminally responsible for his actions after his brief Blair and M’Naughten hearing. R. 4, line 7—R. 5, line 4.

the kitchen knife Appellant briefly obtained after the alleged incident but prior to his arrest, asserting it was not the murder weapon, and the pictures were not relevant to the actual case. The trial court withheld his ruling pending testimony elicited during the trial itself. R. 140, line 21—R. 141, line 19. During trial testimony regarding Appellant getting the kitchen knife was allowed over objection. R. 294, lines 9-17. Further testimony from Cody confirmed the kitchen knife “was a different knife” than his collector’s knife that Uncle Mike previously allowed Appellant to use. R. 296, lines 4-20. Additionally, during a break in trial, Counsel preserved her objection to admission of the two photographs—State’s Exhibits #37 and #38—as follows:

Counsel: Back at Cody Daney’s testimony, the State admitted No. 37 and 38 and we went up to your Honor. I objected to that. Your Honor noted my objection for the record. I just want to put my objection on the record that I was objecting under Rule 403 that those pictures were more prejudicial than probative--

The Court: Right.

Counsel: --and weren’t relevant in the case.

The Court: Okay. And you, and you had objected to being relevant and, and I overruled your objection finding at the time the police were at the door, I think evidence of, of the suspect either fleeing or doing anything to allude the police or even resisting arrest is relevant in this case. And so I allowed it in over your objection.

R. 297, line 23—R. 161, line 23; R. 385, line 8—R. 386, line 2; State’s Exhibit #37; State’s Exhibit #38. Counsel likewise objected to admission of the actual kitchen knife itself into evidence. The basis was again pursuant to Rules 403 and 401, SCRE, and the trial court overruled Counsel’s objections. R. 397, line 2—R. 398, line 3.

Finally, during Dr. William Stevens' (Dr. Stevens) testimony, Counsel objected to admission of the photograph depicting Minor 1's remains recovered from the landfill over five weeks after the incident. R. 535, line 5—R. 536, line 20. Specifically, Dr. Stevens had already testified as to what remains were recovered, where they were recovered, and the condition in which they were found. Further, Dr. Stevens prepared two drawings—State's Exhibits #65 and #66—illustrating not only what bones of Minor 1 were found, but also where samples were taken from them for purposes of identification. R. 527, line 6—R. 535, line 4; R. 721-722. After admission of this testimony and two drawings, the State sought admission of a photograph of Minor 1's actual remains, which was admitted over objection. Counsel later proffered her arguments on the record pursuant to Rule 403, and State v. Kornahrens. The trial court ultimately ruled that the photograph showed “material facts that the solicitor needed to, to prove in this case and the conditions. . .And so I think that the probative value outweighs the prejudice effect.” R. 540, line 3—R. 541, line 16; State's Exhibit #64.

Appellant was found guilty on all four counts. R. 708, lines 7-25. The trial court imposed consecutive sentences of life without parole (LWOP) for each count of murder, followed by consecutive sentences of five years for each count of possession of a weapon during the commission of a violent crime. R. 719, lines 12-22; R. 725-732.

This appeal follows.

ARGUMENT

- I. **The trial court reversibly erred by failing to suppress (a) a photograph depicting a five-year old's partial skeletal remains that decayed in the Richland County landfill for over ten weeks, and (b) another pair of photographs of a kitchen knife purportedly in Appellant's possession well after the incident, and where the knife was not related to either of the two homicides.**

The trial court erroneously admitted three highly prejudicial photographs into evidence: one depicting the partial skeletal remains of a five-year old victim that had decayed in the Richland County Landfill for approximately ten weeks prior to recovery, and the other two showing a kitchen knife purportedly in Appellant's possession at one point, yet completely unlinked to the stabbing deaths in the present case. Counsel timely objected, and was overruled by the trial court. This was error as the photographs were not necessary to substantiate material facts or conditions, and their probative value was substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice by creating a tendency to suggest a decision on an improper basis.

“In criminal cases, an appellate court reviews errors of law only and is bound by the factual findings of the trial court unless clearly erroneous.” State v. Bryant, 372 S.C. 305, 312, 642 S.E.2d 582, 586 (2007) (citing State v. Baccus, 367 S.C. 41, 48, 625 S.E.2d 216, 220 (2006)). “A trial judge has considerable latitude in ruling on the admissibility of evidence and his rulings will not be disturbed absent a showing of probable prejudice.” State v. Kornahrens, 290 S.C. 281, 288, 350 S.E.2d 180 (1986). “The relevancy and materiality of a photograph is left to the sound discretion of the trial judge.” State v. Edwards, 194 S.C. 410, 10 S.E.2d 587, 588 (1940).

“Although photographs may be used to corroborate other evidence, it is well established that photographs calculated to arouse the sympathies and prejudices of the jury are to be excluded if they are irrelevant or unnecessary to the issues at trial.” State v. Middleton, 288 S.C.

21, 24, 339 S.E.2d 692, 693 (1986) (internal citations omitted) (reversing and remanding where the information contained in the photographs was not really at issue, and other testimony negated any arguable evidentiary value of the photographs); see State v. Brazell, 325 S.C. 65, 78, 480 S.E.2d 64, 72 (1997) (agreeing with the same evidentiary principles, but factually different); State v. Waitus, 224 S.C. 12, 77 S.E.2d 256, 263 (1953); State v. Elders, 386 S.C. 474, 483, 688 S.E.2d 857, 862 (Ct. App. 2010) (agreeing with the same evidentiary principles, but factually different); see also Rule 401, SCRE (defining relevant evidence); Rule 402, SCRE (prohibiting admission of irrelevant evidence). Stated differently, “[p]hotographs calculated to arouse the sympathy or prejudice of the jury should be excluded *if they are irrelevant or not necessary to substantiate material facts or conditions.*” State v. Torres, 390 S.C. 618, 623, 703 S.E.2d 226, 228 (2010) (emphasis added). Moreover, “[i]n the *guilt* phase of a trial, photographs of the murder victims should be excluded where the facts they are intended to show have been fully established by competent testimony.” Kornahrens, 290 S.C. 281, 288-89, 350 S.E.2d 180, 185 (1986) (emphasis in original) (citing Waitus, 224 S.C. at 12, 77 S.E.2d at 256).

Additionally, Rule 403 of the South Carolina Rules of Evidence allows for even relevant evidence to be excluded “if its probative value is substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice.” Rule 403, SCRE; see also State v. Kelley, 319 S.C. 173, 177, 460 S.E.2d 370 (1995) (“It is well settled that evidence should be excluded when its probative value is outweighed by its prejudicial effect.”). In order to constitute unfair prejudice, “the photographs must create a tendency to suggest a decision on an improper basis, commonly, although not necessarily, an emotional one.” Kelley, 319 S.C. at 178, 460 S.E.2d at 370-71 (quoting Alexander, 303 S.C. at 382, 401 S.E.2d at 149).

(a) Photograph of Minor 1's Remains

In the present case, the State was allowed to admit a picture of Minor 1's partial skeletal remains that decayed at the Richland County Landfill for approximately ten weeks. The State initially elicited testimony from Dr. Stevens, who first testified as to what remains were collected, as well as where samples from each section of bone were taken for purposes of DNA identification. In fact, Dr. Stevens prepared not one but two sketches of Minor 1's skeletal remains clearly depicting what was recovered and what was used to identify them—both of which were entered without objection due to their emotionally benign, yet important nature. R. 530, line 20—R. 535, line 4; State's Exhibit 65; State's Exhibit 66.

Furthermore, despite the State's effort to suggest the decayed soft tissue aided in DNA identification of the remains, Dr. Stevens wholly refuted this notion by saying, “[t]he soft tissue I think was degraded/contaminated, you know, bacteria and things that prevented it from being useful for DNA.... But the identification was made with the kneecap bone, yeah.” T. II. 408, lines 12-20. In other words, any facts the State intended to show through the photograph of Minor 1's remains were already fully established by Dr. Stevens' competent testimony and through his two other drawings. Thus, admission of the photograph of Minor 1's remains was error because, “[i]n the *guilt* phase of a trial, photographs of the murder victims should be excluded where the facts they are intended to show have been fully established by competent testimony.” Kornahrens, 290 S.C. 281, 288-89, 350 S.E.2d 180, 185 (1986) (emphasis in original) (citing Waitus, 224 S.C. at 12, 77 S.E.2d at 256).

Additionally, the photograph was not needed to prove the elements of murder.⁵ The cause of Minor 1's death was ostensibly established by circumstantial evidence pertaining to the crime scene as well as Appellant's statements to police, not by Dr. Stevens. In fact, Dr. Stevens admitted as much on cross examination by acknowledging there was no evidence of perimortem injuries from the limited remains examined. R. 537, line 12—R. 538, line 14. As such, the photograph of Minor 1's partial skeletal remains was not necessary to substantiate a material fact or condition of the actual offense, and any minimal probative value it may have held was substantially outweighed by its unfair prejudice. See Id.; see also Rule 403, SCRE.

Moreover, admission of Minor 1's skeletal remains suggested a decision on an emotional basis. The State spent considerable time in witness testimony highlighting how long and arduous of an ordeal it was for law enforcement and community members to search the landfill for Minor 1's remains. R. 501, line 18—R. 525 line 6; R. 527, lines 6-24; R. 677, lines 4-22. Further, the State not only had Dr. Stevens identify each bone in his direct testimony to the jury, but also emphasized the photograph in its closing argument: "State's Exhibit 64. They found what they could. They got most of her leg bones and a, up at the top, there's a piece of her forehead and they tested it." R. 677, lines 17-19. In this way, the photograph of Minor 1's remains was utilized to arouse the sympathies and the prejudices of the jury. Middleton, 288 S.C. at 24, 339 S.E.2d at 693. In short, the State highlighted the photograph to enhance the emotional pressure of the long search for Minor 1's remains culminating in a photograph of an amalgamation of decayed bones. Thus, Appellant was unfairly prejudiced by the trial court's erroneous admission of the photograph, as it was both unnecessary and "create[d] a tendency to suggest a decision on

⁵ Murder is defined as "the killing of any person with malice aforethought, either express or implied." S.C. Code Ann. § 16-3-10 (West, Westlaw current through end of 2022 Act. No. 268); see also State v Dickerson, 395 S.C. 101, 119 n.5, 716 S.E.2d 895, 905 n.5 (2011).

an improper basis, . . . an emotional one.” Kelley, 319 S.C. at 178, 460 S.E.2d at 370-71 (quoting State v. Alexander, 303 S.C. 377, 382, 401 S.E.2d 146, 149 (1991)) (alteration added); see also Rule 403, SCRE.

Accordingly, the trial court erred in admitting the photograph of Minor 1’s remains, and Appellant was prejudiced by the erroneous admission as “[t]he prejudice created by the photographs clearly outweighed *any* evidentiary value.” Middleton, 288 S.C. at 24, 339 S.E.2d at 693 (emphasis in original) (citing Waitus, 224 S.C. 12, 77 S.E.2d 256, and Edwards, 194 S.C. 410, 10 S.E.2d 587); see also Kornahrens, 290 S.C. 281, 288-89, 350 S.E.2d 180, 185 (1986) (emphasis in original) (citations omitted); see also Rule 403, SCRE. Appellant therefore seeks reversal of his conviction, and remand of his case.

(b) Photographs of Kitchen Knife

The trial court also erred by admitting photographs of a kitchen knife wholly unrelated to either of the homicides or weapons offenses involved with the alleged stabbings in the present case. These photographs were irrelevant, and even if there was some minor relevant value to them it was substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice.

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