**RECEIVED**

**Oct 10 2023**

**SC Court of Appeals**

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Sumter County  
The Honorable R. Ferrell Cothran, Circuit Court Judge

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

v.

DAUNTE MAURICE JOHNSON,

APPELLANT.

Appellate Case No. 2022-000931

---

**FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT**

---

ALAN WILSON  
Attorney General

DONALD J. ZELENKA  
Deputy Attorney General

MELODY J. BROWN  
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General  
S.C. Bar No. 14244

J. Anthony Mabry  
Senior Assistant Attorney General  
S.C. Bar No. 100851  
Post Office Box 11549  
Columbia, SC 29211-1549  
(803) 734-6305

HON. ERNEST A. FINNEY, III  
Solicitor, Third Judicial Circuit

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

Petitioner also claims this evidence was unfairly prejudicial under Rule 403. A trial judge's weighing of probative value versus prejudicial effect under Rule 403, SCRE, is reviewed under and abuse of discretion standard and should be reversed only in exceptional circumstances. Gadson, supra (referencing Brooks, 428 S.C. at 635, 837 S.E.2d at 245 (quoting Collins, 409 S.C. at 534, 763 S.E.2d at 28); Sweat, supra. Only exceptional circumstances justify reversing the circuit court's decision on 403 grounds. State v. Huckabee, 419 S.C. 414, 423, 798 S.E.2d 584, 589 (2017). There are no exceptional circumstances here.

Both parties conceded the kitchen knife which was testified about was not the murder weapon, but a weapon that Johnson armed himself with while attempting to evade police and avoid arrest for the murders. (R. 196-97, 199-200; 210-24; 277-327; 393-99; State's Ex. 37 & 38). There was no blood on the knife. The murder weapon had been returned to Daney before Johnson armed himself with this knife. Johnson changed his mind about not being taken by police, stuck the knife in the couch, and surrendered to police after being talked out of the house. The 2 photos of the kitchen knife are mild, to say the least. (R. 393-99; State's Ex. 37 & 38). One (1) photo is from a distance and shows where the knife was left in relation to the whole room and the whole couch. The other photo shows the knife up close and where exactly the knife was stuck in the couch. (R. 393-99; State's Ex. 37 & 38). The photo is not needlessly cumulative because it corroborates the testimony of Daney, Winnona, and the police officers who discovered the knife Rule 403, SCRE. As a result, there was no unfair prejudice to Johnson. *See* Hart, 274 S.W. at 388 (it could not have been prejudicial to introduce weapon defendant armed himself with during arrest **which was not the murder weapon** as it was not of a character to excite either passion or prejudice). Judge Cothran's determination must be affirmed.

### *Harmless Error*

Finally, and to the extent the Court finds Judge Cothran erroneously allowed the prosecution to introduce any of the challenged photos, their admission could not reasonably have affected the result of the trial. See State v. Sherard, 303 S.C. 172, 175, 399 S.E.2d 595, 596 (1991) (“Error in a criminal prosecution is harmless when it could not reasonably have affected the result of the trial”); State v. Bailey, 298 S.C. 1, 5, 377 S.E.2d 581, 584 (1989) (“When guilt has been conclusively proven by competent evidence such that no other rational conclusion can be reached, the Court should not set aside a conviction because of insubstantial errors not affecting the result”). “Whether an error is harmless depends on the circumstances of the particular case.” State v. Tapp, 398 S.C. 376, 389, 728 S.E.2d 468, 475 (2012). The admission of any photograph discussed above was harmless because it was: (1) cumulative to other evidence properly admitted, and (2) because of the overwhelming evidence of Johnson’s guilt.

The admission of the 1 black and white photo of limited skeletal remains was harmless where several witnesses testified to locating the same remains of Naveah under layers of garbage in a vast landfill after several weeks of searching. (R. 530-535; 501 ln. 18 525; 527, ln. 24; 677, ll. 4-22.). State v. Brewer, 411 S.C. 401, 409-410, 768 S.E.2d 656, 660 (2015)(*numerous citations omitted*); State v. Kirton, 381 S.C. 7, 37, 671 S.E.2d 107, 122 (Ct. App. 2008)(the admission of improper evidence is harmless where the evidence is merely cumulative to other evidence); State v. Blackburn, 271 S.C. 324, 329, 247 S.E.2d 334, 337 (1978)(same); State v. Weaverling, 337 S.C. 460, 471, 523 S.E.2d 787, 793 (Ct. App. 1999); *see also* State v. Williams, 321 S.C. 455, 463, 469 S.E.2d 49, 54 (1996)(error in admission of evidence is harmless where it is cumulative to other evidence properly admitted). The same testimony was also testified to during the trial using 2 diagrams and that Naveah’s bones were used to draw DNA from to identify her remains by DNA

testing. (R. 530, ln. 20-535, ln. 4; 677; State's Ex. #s 65 & 66). Finally, blood was found in the dumpster Johnson admitted he had placed Naveah in, and Johnson admitted he killed Naveah and disposed of her body by placing it in the dumpster traced to the area of the landfill where the bones were found. (R. 473-501). The 1 black and white photo was cumulative to other evidence. State v. Haselden, 353 S.C. 190, 197, 577 S.E.2d 445, 448-49 (2003). *See also* State v. Brazell, 325 S.C. 65, 79, 480 S.E.2d 64, 72 (1997) ("Even if the descriptive testimony of the prosecution's witnesses adequately conveyed the brutality and malice of the crime and these photographs were unnecessary, they were harmless surplusage")(citing State v. Robinson, 201 S.C. 230, 22 S.E.2d 587 (1942)(finding the photos unnecessary but harmless because they were not prejudicial or inflammatory).

Additionally, the admission of the photos of the kitchen knife (State's Exhibits #37 and #38) were harmless where there was testimony from other witnesses regarding the same. Both Daney and Winona testified to the kitchen knife. (R. 294, ll. 2-20; 295, ll. 12-22). Police officers testified to the recovery of the kitchen knife and where it was recovered. (R. 393-99). The State also introduced the knife itself, which shows how large the knife was and Johnson's intent to resist or evade arrest was serious, at least until he changed his mind. As a result, the photos were merely cumulative to other evidence properly admitted. Haselden, 353 S.C. 190, 577 S.E.2d 445; State v. Schumpert, 312 S.C. 502, 435 S.E.2d 859 (1993) (any error in admission of evidence cumulative to other unobjected-to evidence is harmless); State v. Johnson, 298 S.C. 496, 498, 381 S.E.2d 732, 733 (1989)(same); State v. Broaddus, 361 S.C. 534, 542, 605 S.E.2d 579, 583-84 (Ct. App. 2004)(same); Kirton, 381 S.C. at 38, 671 S.E.2d at 122-23; State v. Richardson, 358 S.C. 586, 596-97, 595 S.E.2d 858, 863 (Ct. App. 2004)(even if the challenged testimony was improper any error in its admission was harmless where it was cumulative to other similar testimony admitted

without objection); *see also* State v. Brown, 344 S.C. 70, 75, 543 S.E.2d 552, 555 (Ct. App. 2001)(any error in admitting evidence was harmless as properly admitted evidence proved the same thing)

The admission of the photos of the kitchen knife was also harmless where the State and the defense agreed the knife was not the murder weapon, it contained no blood or extraneous matter, and 1 of the photos was some distance away and showed where the knife was located on the couch in relation to the whole room. The photos simply depicted *a kitchen knife* Johnson armed himself with and stated his intent not to be taken and then changed his mind and stuck in the couch. (R. 196-97, 199-200; 210-24; 277-327; 387-99; 210-24; State's Ex. 37 & 38).

The admission of the photo of the skeletal remains and the photos of the kitchen knife were also harmless because of the overwhelming evidence of Johnson's guilt. State v. Wells, 336 S.C. 223, 426 S.E.2d 814 (Ct. App. 1992)(photo of victim admitted to accurately show crime scene was harmless in light of the overwhelming evidence of guilt). The apartment manager testified to the prior difficulties between Johnson and Sharee before her murder. The manager testified to the complaints by neighbors hearing Johnson and Sharee arguing, which the manager spoke with Johnson about. She also testified to her conversations with Johnson the day before and the day of the murders placing him in the area of the crime scene. Johnson actually asked the apartment manager to help him get his things out of Sharee's apartment before the murders. (R. 160-180). Patsy testified Johnson slept in her apartment on Friday and Saturday night and there was an altercation between Johnson and Sharee on Sunday night in which Johnson cursed Sharee and would not apologize. At approximately 3:00 a.m. on early Monday morning, Johnson came to her apartment and took a shower; she then saw a chair in front of Sharee's front door at 4:00 a.m. where Johnson usually sat to use the WiFi. Patsy also overheard a discussion in which Uncle Mike

asked Uncle Mike for Daney's knife before the murders. (R. 241-61). Sharee's son, C.J., identified Johnson as the person in Sharee's home the night of August 4<sup>th</sup>/5<sup>th</sup> when Sharee and C.J.'s sister Naveah were murdered. C.J. testified to telling his mother goodnight and putting his sister to bed on the same night. C.J. testified to Johnson coming into his bedroom later during the night and requesting a mop, which C.J. provided to Johnson. C.J. testified to discovering his mother the next day and finding her deceased and rolled up in a rug or carpet and then notifying the apartment manager. C.J. also pointed out Johnson standing across the street to police, and Johnson fled on foot to Winona Cody's home. (R. 181-201). Uncle Mike testified to loaning Johnson his nephew's collectable knife a day or 2 before the murders. Another witness overheard Uncle Mike trying to get the knife back from Johnson but Johnson would not return the knife (R. 263-76; 241-61). Daney then tried to get the knife back from Johnson before the murders but Johnson only promised to return it. Then, Cody Daney testified that on the afternoon after the murders, he saw Johnson washing the murder weapon off in Daney's mother's kitchen sink. Daney testified Johnson then returned the cleaned knife to Daney, and Daney put the knife up. Daney then testified to police coming to his mother's front door and Johnson grabbing a kitchen knife out of a kitchen drawer, arming himself with it, and stating: "I'm not going to let them take me." Johnson also told Daney or Daney's mother, the police were there about something he did to the woman next door, an admission of guilt. Johnson then changed his mind and decided to give up and stuck the knife in the couch cushions. Daney told police about the knife, and they found it stuck in the couch seat cushions. Daney also testified he had asked for the knife back from Johnson before the murders, but Johnson claimed he did not have it and then when confronted admitted he did have the knife and promised he would return it later. (R. 277-304). Police arrested Johnson after the murders and took him to the police station for questioning. Found on Johnson's person were Sharee's

driver's license and the Social Security cards for Sharee and Naveah. (R. 210-24). Johnson first attempted to blame 1 parent of 1 of Sharee's children for the murders and then another. (R. 399-412; 413-468; 473-501). Johnson eventually dropped these claims and admitted to killing Sharee and Naveah. (R. 399-412; 413-468; 473-501). He admitted he killed Sharee and Naveah with the knife he obtained from Uncle Mike. (R. 399-412; 413-468; 473-501). Johnson eventually admitted he placed Naveah in a rug and into a garbage dumpster and pointed out to police which dumpster Naveah was placed in.<sup>9</sup> (R. 399-412; 413-468; 473-501). Johnson also admitted during 2 different police transports that he murdered the 2 victims. Johnson also told family members he had told police he killed the victims and placed Naveah's body in the garbage dumpster. Police discovered blood at the back door of Sharee's apartment and in the dumpster and tracked that dumpster's contents to the Richland County landfill. (R. 451-68; 473-501). After a vast grid search under multiple layers of garbage, police found limited skeletal remains of Naveah that demonstrated she was in fact dead. (R. 501-536). The crime scene showed Johnson had wrapped Sharee in a rug or carpet after killing her with a knife, and that he stabbed Naveah near the bottom of the staircase. Sharee's body was recovered at the scene, and her DNA, Naveah's DNA, and DNA consistent with Johnson's was found at the crime scene as well. The crime scene also revealed someone had attempted to mop up the blood at the crime scene corroborating C.J.'s testimony of providing Johnson with a mop during the middle of the night. (R. 344-47; 366-84; 628-48). As a result of the overwhelming evidence of Johnson's guilt, any error in the admission of any photographs was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt on this record. State v. Brown, 424 S.C. 479, 493, 818 S.E.2d 735, 743 (2018) ("Where 'guilt has been conclusively proven by competent evidence such that no

---

<sup>9</sup> Johnson also returned multiple times from prison and gave multiple recorded statements about where he placed Naveah after she was murdered. This occurred over several days in August immediately after the murders. (R. 399-412; 413-433; 434-50;).

other rational conclusion can be reached,' an insubstantial error that does not affect the result of the trial is considered harmless.'"(quoting State v. Byers, 392 S.C. 438, 447, 710 S.E.2d 55, 60 (2011)).

### **Appellate Issue II.**

Did Judge Cothran err in permitting testimony Johnson armed himself with a knife and stated he was not going to be taken when police came to arrest him for the murders?

Johnson now challenges not only the admission of the 2 photos of the kitchen knife but also the admission of any testimony regarding him arming himself with a knife when police were pursuing him and his statement that he was not going to let police take him. Johnson argues this testimony was irrelevant and unfairly prejudicial. As just discussed in detail above, Johnson's actions in fleeing police and attempting to evade arrest, including arming himself to do the same, and stating he was not going allow police to arrest him, are admissible under South Carolina law and not unduly or unfairly prejudicial. However, part of the issue raised on appeal is not even preserved for appellate review.

#### *What occurred below with regard to this issue*

When Daney testified to Johnson arming himself with the kitchen knife while fleeing from arrest, Johnson objected only on the basis that this testimony was not relevant. (R. 294). Judge Cothran overruled the objection. (R. 294). Johnson did not object to the testimony of Johnson fleeing and arming himself with the knife on Rule 403, SCRE, grounds, i.e. the prejudice of this testimony substantially outweighed its probative value. (R. 294).

Further, when Daney was asked what Johnson said when Daney questioned Johnson about why he armed himself with a knife, there was no objection. Daney testified without objection that Johnson stated: "I can't let them take me." (R. 295, ll. 19-20).

## ARGUMENT II.

**Portions of Appellate Issue II. are not preserved for appeal, regardless; Judge Cothran did not abuse his discretion in permitting testimony Johnson armed himself with a knife and stated he was not going to allow police to arrest him as the evidence was relevant and admissible, and its probative value was not substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice; regardless, its' admission was harmless because it was cumulative to the evidence admitted and the evidence of Johnson's guilt was overwhelming.**

### Lack of Preservation

Two (2) parts of Appellate Issue II. are not preserved for appeal. For an issue to be preserved for appeal, a contemporaneous objection must be raised. Wilder Corp. v. Wilke, 330 S.C. 71; 497 S.E.2d 731 (1998); Smith v. Phillips, 318 S.C. 453, 458 S.E.2d 427 (1995). State v. Powers, 331 S.C. 37, 501 S.E.2d 116 (1998); State v. Varvil, 338 S.C. 335, 526 SE.2d 248 (Ct. app. 2000). And the objection raised on appeal must be the same as the one raised below. State v. McCray, 332 S.C. 536, 506 S.E.2d 301 (1998); Hanahan v. Simpson, 326 S.C. 140, 485 S.E.2d 903 (1997); State v. Myers, 344 S.C. 532, 544 S.E.2d 851 (Ct. App. 2001). There was no objection on Rule 403, SCRE, grounds to *the testimony* about Johnson arming himself with a kitchen knife to resist or evade arrest, and there was no objection at all when Daney was asked what did Johnson say in response to Daney asking Johnson what he was going to do with the kitchen knife. (R. 294-95).<sup>10</sup> As a result, these portions of Appellate Issue II. are not preserved for appeal. Wilder Corp; Smith; McCray, 332 S.C. 536, 5006 S.E.2d 301; Myers, 344 S.C. 532, 544 S.E.2d 851. The only issue preserved for appeal from Appellate Issue II. is the relevance objection to the testimony of

---

<sup>10</sup> Johnson did object to State's Ex. 37 and 38, the 2 photos of the kitchen knife, on both relevance and Rule 403 grounds [Appellate Issue I.]. (R. 296-97; 385). He only made a relevance objection to *the testimony* about the kitchen knife and no objection was raised as to Johnson's statements to Daney about what he had the knife for. (R. 294-95).

Johnson arming himself with the kitchen knife while fleeing from arrest. Regardless, there is no merit to any of Appellate Issue II. for the reasons set forth above under Appellate Issue I.

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